1955

Rex L. Cole and Helga S. Cole v. Frank J. Parker et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as in the Court below.

All italics are ours.

B. THE FACTS

1. General

This action arose from a real estate contract entered into by the parties on August 21, 1952. This contract

(Exhibit 2) provided for the sale of real estate situated in Millard County, Utah, near the town of Garrison and near to the Utah-Nevada line. The property involved is commonly known as the Robinson Ranch and the Meecham Ranch consisting of a total of approximately 760 acres and two shacks (Exhibits 21, 23, 26 and 28). Harold V. Parker purchased the Robinson place on April 1, 1937, and had owned it since (R. 216). Frank Parker moved on to the Meecham place in 1942 (R. 185).

Besides the real property, included in the sale were the following items of personal property: three horses, three cows, ten brood sows, one mowing machine, one rake, one harness, one harrow, one ditcher and one derrick (Exhibit 1). Prior to the action the defendants had back in their possession all of the above items except the ten brood sows (R. 77). Also, under the contract the sellers reserved one-half of the mineral, oil and gas rights, five tons of barley from the current crop and a grazing lease on the Meecham Ranch terminating on December 31, 1952. The buyers received the balance of the growing crops. Plaintiffs received a total amount of money for the sale of crops harvested in 1952 of \$1,498.22 for barley (R. 78) and \$343.12 for the sows (R. 83).

The total purchase price was \$40,000.00 which was to be paid \$2,800.00 down, \$8,800.00 on or before December 31, 1952, and \$5,680.00 each year thereafter. Plaintiffs made the down payment and the \$8,800.00 payment totalling \$11,600.00. Defendants admitted in their answer that these payments were made by plaintiffs (R. 10).

Plaintiffs moved on to the ranch in the latter part of September, 1952, and stayed for about two and one-half to three months (R. 69). Plaintiffs moved back to Murray at that time because the water had dried up and there was no drinking water (R. 70). The next spring, (1953), Mr. Cole made preparations to lease the place to a man by the name of Goff on a share basis. Mr. Goff went out to the place with his machinery but came back (R. 73). Mr. Cole went out and found that there was no water coming out of Hendrie's Creek and that the place could not be farmed (R. 74). Mr. Cole found out after he moved on to the place and the following spring that almost all of the water that would come out of Hendrie's Creek would be lost before reaching the ranch (R. 75). The ranch was not farmed in the summer of 1953 and this action was commenced in December 1953. By order of the Third District Court, A. Kyle Bettilyon was appointed receiver of the property in dispute on March 3, 1954 (R. 21, 22). The receiver allowed the Parkers to farm the property in 1954 (R. 211). No accounting has been made on said receivership. The trial in this case was commenced on November 8, 1954.

Plaintiffs instituted the lawsuit asking for rescission of the contract and return of their \$11,600.00 less a reasonable rental (R. 1). Prior to commencing the lawsuit plaintiffs tendered the property back to defendants and demanded their money less a reasonable rental (R. 10). As grounds for rescission plaintiffs alleged that the de-

fendant, Harold Parker, well knowing there was an insufficient supply of water for successful agriculture induced plaintiffs to enter into said contract by falsely and fraudulently representing to the plaintiff, Rex L. Cole, that the water supply for the property was and always had been adequate and sufficient for agriculture and pasture (R. 2). Defendants refused the tender, declared the contract forfeited after the time for the next payment was up and asked the court to forfeit the money paid on the contract by plaintiffs and cancel the contract. The trial court ruled in favor of defendants and forfeited the \$11,600.00 paid on the contract by plaintiffs (R. 40).

2. Facts Surrounding the Execution of the Contract.

Mr. Cole went down to see the Parker Ranch on August 12, 1952, with Mr. Mark Crystal who was employed by Bettilyons, Inc., a real estate company in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 53, 54). They arrived at the Parker Ranch just before dark on the evening of August 12, 1954. Prior to this time Mr. Cole had never been in the area around Garrison, Utah (R. 52). Mr. Cole did not have an opportunity to observe the ranch until the next morning (R. 54). The next morning Mr. Harold Parker drove Mr. Cole and Mr. Crystal around the place (R. 55). The ranch was located on fairly level ground east of some low mountains on the Nevada side of the state boundary (R. 56). Mr. Cole took some pictures on that day (Exhibits 5, 6 and 7). Exhibit 7 shows a general view looking toward the ranch and including most of the

ranch which starts less than half way up the picture (R. 58). Mr. Cole observed that the crops were fairly good (R. 59); that there was about ten acres of oats, fifteen acres of corn, sixty acres of alfalfa, ten acres of wheat and about forty acres of barley or about a total of one hundred and thirty-five acres under irrigation (R. 59). Also, Mr. Cole observed a little orchard on the Meecham place, a little orchard of young trees on the Meecham place and on the other place a young orchard of possibly fifty or sixty trees (R. 61). The source of water for irrigation was Hendrie's Creek which emerged from the mountains about three and one-fourth miles from the ranch (R. 63). Mr. Cole testified as to being taken to see the source of the water (R. 63):

"Q. Were you taken out to see the source?

A. Yes, by a roundabout way.

Q. What do you mean by 'a roundabout way'?

A. Usually, I found out afterwards, when they wanted to go to the mouth of Hendrie's Creek, they would drive directly up there. The road was good enough to drive up, especially at that time, with a truck. But we made a roundabout way, back over on the bench, and come in from the south, up over the bench, on a road that goes in from up there.

Q. Is this called Henry Creek?

A. Hendrie's Creek.

Q. Where is the source that you examined, with respect to the ranch?

A. Three and one-fourth miles.

Q. Is that at the foot of the mountain?

A. That is the foot of the mountain. Hendrie's Canyon, I guess — I don't know whether they call it Hendrie's Canyon, but it is Hendrie's Creek.

Q. Where does the water come from that comes through this creek, the mouth of it?

A. I have never yet been able to go up and examine exactly where it come from, but there is some comes from springs up there. And there is a little spring at the north of Hendrie's Creek, that was producing, at that time."

Mr. Cole further testified that he was taken back from the source by the same route and not down the creek (R. 231).

Mr. Cole testified that he, Harold Parker and Mark Crystal engaged in a conversation concerning the water at a point where the creek emerges from the mountains and that he observed at that time a stream of from four to five second feet at that point. Mr. Cole testified concerning the conversation as follows (R. 65, 66) :

"Q. Was there a conversation between you and Mr. Parker at that point?

A. Harold Parker made the remark, at that point, that the creek was like that all the time, and never varied, and that there has been as high as 62 second feet come out of that canyon in the run-off.

Q. Was anything else said in that conversation, that you remember?

- A. Yes; we walked on over to the spring, and he made the same remark on the spring, that it hadn't varied at all.
- Q. Did he say anything with respect to whether or not the spring was always—
- A. The spring was always that way, it never varied.
- Q. Was there anything else that was said at either of those two places, that you remember?
- A. In respect to the water?
- Q. Yes.
- A. That was about what was said on the water."

Mr. Cole stated that after this conversation, they returned to the ranch and he signed an earnest money receipt. The contract was entered into between the parties on August 21, 1955. At the time the contract was signed there was no specific discussion concerning the forfeiture provision of the contract (R. 68, 69).

Mr. Crystal had been engaged in the ranching part of real estate for about one month and this was his first sale of a ranch (R. 158, 159). Mr. Crystal testified as to the conversation concerning the water situation as follows (R. 155, 156):

- "A. When we walked over to the creek where the water was flowing, I observed a clear stream of water that I estimated to be approximately five or six second feet of water. Obviously, at that particular time we were

discussing percolation loss on the water, where it was running over the alluvial fill at the mouth of the canyon. I had mentioned at that time that there was a similar situation that I was intimately familiar with, down in Central Utah, where they had occasion to lead the water over a flat of about two and a half to three miles, from the mouth of a canyon down to a reservoir.

At that time I stated that this particular company, this irrigation company, had contracted having a ditch lined, a concrete and beveled ditch, and that they had been able to solve their loss, that is, prevent the loss of water through percolation, by constructing a ditch and concrete lining it.

Q. What did Mr. Parker say, if anything?

A. I can't recall what Mr. Parker's remarks were.

Q. Do you recall any remarks he made, at all, about the water in previous years?

A. Mr. Parker's?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes sir. He stated that there had been a great deal of water in the past, especially during the spring run-off, and as the summer progressed, and the snows melted in the high range, the water subsided.

Q. Did you hear him make any specific statement to Mr. Cole, guaranteeing any specific amount of water?

MR. BLACK: I object to that—

THE COURT: The word 'guaranteeing' wasn't used in any way. You can ask him whether he made the statement Mr. Cole said he did.

Q. Mr. Crystal, do you remember Mr. Parker, in substance, and effect, making any statement to the effect that the creek was always like that, the way it was when you saw it, and had never varied, and went as high as 60 second feet?

MR. BLACK: Object to that as leading.

THE COURT: Objection overruled.

A. I recall Mr. Parker had mentioned that there was a high of so many second feet of water, a great deal of water in the spring of the year, then it eventually subsided down. And that was August 13th, that we observed this water, which was well into the middle part of the summer.

Q. Did you ever hear him say, as Mr. Cole testified, that the creek was always like that, and never varied?

A. No sir, I cannot recall that statement."

Mr. William Hancock, a witness for defendants, testified that he was also looking at the Parker place on August 13, 1952, and was present at the conversation at Hendrie's Creek. He testified as follows about this conversation (R. 145):

"A. That in the spring there is as much as 52 second feet; that it declines through the year; that the water was being lost by—a good share of it was being lost by running into the ground before it got to the ranch; if cement

was taken the first mile, that it would help a lot. That there was a natural reservoir there, where you could store some of that early water, or a dam up above it could be put in, to store the early water."

The defendant, Harold Parker, testified as to the conversation concerning the water as follows (R. 200):

"A. We had a discussion, Mr. Cole, Mr. Crystal and Mr. Hancock. I explained to them how the water varied, that it was very high in the spring of the year, and receded as the snow melted; and it got very low in the fall of the year. And it was necessary there to have a rock-lined ditch, concrete ditch, or pipe line, to deliver that water to the ranch.

And Mr. Crystal discussed the thing, about his projects—he had been down in southern Utah—and derived at some figure.

And Mr. Cole decided that that was very necessary and so did Mr. Hancock, that that water had to be piped down there."

3. Facts concering the property.

Mr. W. Don Peterson, who was employed by the Federal Government in Soil Conservation Service from 1935 to 1953 was called as a witness for the plaintiffs. Mr. Peterson was in charge of engineering in Millard County from approximately 1942 to 1953 (R. 116). As part of his duties he was engaged in irrigation water measurement, construction of reservoirs, spring development, pipe lines and drainage. Mr. Peterson was acquainted with the property in question from 1942 or

1943 to 1953 (R. 117). Also since that time he had made water measurements over the years on Hendrie's Creek. As to the water situation Mr. Peterson testified as follows (R. 117, 118, 119, 120 and 121):

“Q. Now, is there any condition up there, that you know of, that creates any kind of water problem in regards to the Robinson and Meecham ranches, regardless of the amount of water coming out of the source of Hendrie's Creek?

A. Well, you have got a problem there along that whole range of mountains, as you have got a fault just as the mountains meet the valley, and there your waters are lost.

The water supply up the canyon itself, oh, you might say it is fairly stable. You could probably count on pretty close to two second feet any time, if you go a mile or more above the junction of the canyon with the valley. But when it hits that fault zone it loses the water quite rapidly.

I remember I recommended to Mr. Parker a method of saving the water, which I had seen used on Lost River, and Birch Creek, up in Idaho. That is, changing the channels so it is carrying a silt load, and it plugs up the interstices in the ditch, and you get a fairly good level of water.

If you go up the canyon, I think you will find where the channel has been changed in different places to deliver water in that manner.

Q. When did you make that recommendation?

A. I think that was about one of our first contacts with Parkers. We recommended it could be lined, but, of course, your cost is quite heavy on that.

Q. What would be the cost of lining the ditch down to the place?

A. A dollar a foot would be very conservative estimate.

Q. Had you had any other occasions than that, to discuss with the Parkers their water problems?

A. We have discussed it numerous times. I have stopped there in the spring. There is usually a fair flow of water in the average year. Of course in the summer months, and towards fall, usually the water—when I say ‘seldom reaches the road’—during the night, when it cools off, you get probably one-quarter of a second foot down through there.

Q. Do you know about how many second feet it would take up at the mouth, before you would get any water at the ranch itself?

A. That is a question. It would depend on how the water was, whether it was muddy, whether it was cloudy, evaporation, cool, and hot weather. That is a question I couldn't answer.

Q. Have you had occasion to notice the farming operation on that place from 1942 until you left the service?

A. Well, when we first went out there and completely mapped the place, oh, it was marginal farm, it is similar to the farms along there.

The process of making a living, because of the water supply—generally you have got pretty good water in the spring, so it was possible to give alfalfa at least one or two irrigations.

And if the water supply was good, it meant probably a crop of hay, and if it wasn't possibly a crop of seed.

You find most alfalfa up there a light stand. That is pretty good for growing seed, but not very heavy for yielding hay. Quite often you would have ample water for maturing a crop of grain.

MR. BRADY: What do you mean by 'marginal farm'?

- A. You haven't got a stable water supply. You are limited in the kind of crops you can grow. Some crops will take water throughout the irrigation season. Some of them you can grow a crop with one or two irrigations in the spring.

And alfalfa seed is a crop that works out quite satisfactorily along that line. If you can give it one or two shots of water, maybe you will make a crop. If you have more than that you will make a crop of hay, and possibly another irrigation may make you a crop of seed.

- Q. Would you say, based on your observation and experience, that a person could expect a good crop every year at that place?
- A. Definitely not. There isn't any of those ranches along there under those canyons—it has been just a marginal thing. They show it.

Q. In your work have you had occasion to note the amount of rainfall water supply for various years, in that area?

A. Yes. Of course, their water shed is quite high. I am not too familiar with that. I am quite familiar with the spring of 1952, because I was called in for doing a lot of work on flood damage, and I think the weather records will bear me out that the snow report was about 140 per cent of normal for that year.

Q. Do you know whether or not that is the wettest year you observed in that area?

A. That is the wettest I know of, because many of the roads could not be used for two or three months because of water crossing them.

Q. I wonder if you could give me any figures, what the amount of water needed at a place say to get one second foot down to a place—could you give me a figure of about how many acres that would serve, with good management?

A. Well, the State of Utah, its own recommendation you ought to irrigate at least fifty acres with a second foot.

Under good management, if the land is level, you ought to cover seventy acres with a second foot of water. That is, if you have got a continuous flow with a second foot you ought to be able to cover a farm of at least seventy acres. That has to be good management. You can't have rough land. It has got to be level, and a good irrigation system.

Q. Do you know whether this particular farm could expect that much water in a given summer or not?

MR. FLANDERS: Object to that, your Honor.

The Court: Objection overruled.

- A. *That farm, in the time I have known it, could never count on that much water throughout the irrigation season.* That is, I would say from the first of April to around the first of October. You could count on that much in the spring. Several times, I am sure that there has been a stream maybe from six to ten second feet there in the spring, a good stream to irrigate; and say five second feet is a nice stream to irrigate with. But, along toward July it would be more or less a trickle. So it limited the kind of crops you were going to grow."

Mr. Walter Griffith, a real estate agent employed by American Housing, was called as a witness by plaintiffs. Mr. Griffith had specialized in ranches and farms for twenty odd years operating in Utah, Idaho, Montana and Wyoming. In his business, Mr. Griffith is in constant touch with selling prices of ranch and farm real estate (R. 126). Mr. Griffith recently attended a class conducted by the Master Appraising Institute at Colorado University (R. 127). Also, Mr. Griffith, for a good many years has been acquainted with the vicinity around Garison, Utah (R. 127). Mr. Griffith made a special trip out to the ranch in question two days prior to trial and examined the ranch and the water supply. As to the market value of the ranch in question, Mr. Griffith testified as follows (R. 129, 130, 131 and 132):

“Q. Mr. Griffith, assume, with me, that there are about 135 acres of land out there that is under irrigation and producing, approximately; that will raise oats, corn, alfalfa, wheat and barley, and that there is a State Land Lease for grazing for 3400 acres of grazing land out to the north of this place, and that there is a Taylor Grazing permit for 30 head.

Now, let us assume, first, that there is all the water on that place, that the place needs. Let us assume that there is just all the water that a person, a farmer, would need to irrigate that place during the spring, summer and fall. Do you have an opinion as to what the reasonable market value of that place would be?

A. I do, but I don't see any evidence of any water on that place.

Q. Let us make this assumption first, that there is. Do you have an opinion on that assumption?

A. I have.

Q. About what would it sell for on the market?

A. Sixty dollars an acre for irrigated land.

* * * *

Q. About fifty or sixty dollars an acre, of irrigated land?

A. That would be high on it, with plenty of water.

Q. Let us assume that the water supply is such that there can be an early watering of the alfalfa, but it is very doubtful in any given year, whether there is any water in the sum-

mer time to irrigate, and that in dry years there isn't any water to irrigate, in the summer time.

Assuming those facts, on the same other general information that I asked you to assume, and from your own examination and experience, do you have an opinion on what this place would be worth?

A. In my opinion, it is worth nothing only for range land, with the available supply of water that appears to me.

Q. Can you tell from your examination, Mr. Griffith, whether it looked like there had been any water on the place this year?

A. It don't look like it this year. I can say there has been times that it appears there has been water on it. Probably sometimes there may be ample water, but there certainly hasn't been this year.

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