1956

# Rex L. Cole and Helga S. Cole v. Frank J. Parker et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The parties will be referred to as in the Court below.  
All italics are ours.

**STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON  
BY RESPONDENTS**

**POINT I.**

**THE TRIAL COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN  
FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO FRAUD ON  
THE PART OF THE DEFENDANTS.**

## POINT II.

THAT THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE WAIVED ANY RIGHTS TO RESCIND THE CONTRACT THEY MIGHT HAVE HAD BY THEIR ACTS AND CONDUCT.

## POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR AND WAS JUSTIFIED IN FORFEITING THE SUM OF \$11,600.00 PAID ON THE CONTRACT BY THE PLAINTIFFS.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO FRAUD ON THE PART OF THE DEFENDANTS.

Plaintiff's first point as set forth in their appeal is that the evidence establishes fraud on the part of the defendants, and in support of this point they claim that Harok V. Parker avoided taking Mr. Cole along the route of the creek. This, of course, Mr. Parker denies. Mr. Parker testified (R. 203) "that there were two routes from the ranch to Hendries Creek. We took him up one and down the other." But even though Mr. Parker did not return from the spring to the ranch by another route but came back by the same route, this does not constitute fraud or misrepresentation. The undisputed evidence is that Mr. Cole visited the ranch and went over the whole ranch and

saw for himself exactly how much water was reaching the ranch (R. 55). The evidence is also undisputed that Mr. Cole, after looking at the ranch and specifically the amount of water reaching the ranch, was taken by Mr. Parker to the source of the stream; that is, the spring at the head of Hendries Creek. At this point Mr. Cole saw exactly how much water was originating at the source of Hendries Creek. Mr. Cole also saw for himself that the major portion of the water originating in Hendries Creek was lost by percolation before it reached the ranch. When Mr. Parker, Mr. Crystal, Mr. Hancock and Mr. Cole were present at the source of the water supply there was a conversation concerning the necessity of ways and means of conserving the water which was being lost by percolation on its course to the ranch. Mr. Hancock, who is a disinterested witness, being also a prospective purchaser and who was being shown the ranch at the same time it was being shown to Mr. Cole, testified as follows (R. 144, 145) :

“Q. What do you recall Mr. Parker said specifically about the water?

“A. That in the spring there is as much as 52 second feet, that it declines during the year, that the water was being lost—a good share of it was being lost by running into the ground before it got to the ranch—if cement were taken about the first mile or so that it would help a lot.”

Mr. Mark Crystal, called as a witness for the defendants, testified as follows (R. 155) :

“Q. Did you have—by you I mean Mr. Cole and you and Mr. Parker and Mr. Hancock—did you have any discussion about the water situation?

“A. Yes sir.

“Q. Will you state to His Honor and counsel the conversation as you remember it that Mr. Parker and these gentlemen and you had.

“A. When we walked over to the creek where the water was flowing I observed a clear stream of water of 5 or 6 second feet of water. Obviously at that particular time we were discussing percolation loss of the water where it was running over the alluvial fill at the mouth of the canyon. I had mentioned at that time that there was a similar situation that I was familiar with down in central Utah where I had occasion to lead the water over a plot about two and a half to three miles from the mouth of a canyon down to a reservoir. At that time I stated this particular company—this irrigation company—had contracted having a ditch lined; a concrete and beveled ditch, and that had been able to solve their loss; that is, prevent the loss of water through percolation by the construction of a ditch and cement lining it.”

The evidence is conclusive that Mr. Cole did understand the true condition of the water supply, and that the water varied at different seasons of the year and from year to year, and that the major part of the water originating at the source was lost by percolation en route to the ranch, and that extensive development work was necessary; namely, the cementing of a ditch from the source of Hendries Creek to the ranch.

Now appellants claim that they were misled because Mr. Cole was taken from the ranch to the source of the water supply and back by the same route, and therefore he was prevented from observing that the water was being lost by percolation in a hidden fault somewhere en route.



Mr. Parker testified that there are two routes from the ranch to the source of the water supply and that they went up one and down the other (R. 203). If this is not the true fact, then it is significant that Mr. Black only attempted to prove the contrary by the testimony of Mr. Cole, and did not ask either of the disinterested witnesses, Mr. Hancock or Mr. Crystal, who were also in the truck and who also knew the facts. There is only one fair conclusion to be drawn from the record, and that is that Mr. Cole was taken from the ranch to the water supply by one route and back by the other; and that Mr. Cole saw precisely how much water was originating at the source and how much was reaching the ranch; that the water was being lost by percolation into the ground and that in order to preserve the water certain development work was necessary; namely, the cementing of the ditch to preserve the water; and that the cementing would be about \$1.00 per foot.

Even though there was what counsel terms a hidden fault; as testified to by Don Peterson (R. 118), Mr. Cole was not misled, because he was advised by Mr. Parker and Mr. Crystal that the water was being lost by percolation and exactly what must be done to prevent it. That Mr. Cole was not in fact misled by reason of an alleged hidden fault is shown by the testimony of Mr. Cole himself (R. 75):

“Q. Did you know of your own knowledge what the reason is, now?

“A. Yes. The knowledge that I found out is that the water between the ranch and above there goes into the gravel.”

So there is insufficient evidence in the record to establish that the water is lost by reason of a hidden fault, because Mr. Cole found out by experience that as an actual fact the water was being lost in the gravel en route to the ranch

There is no evidence in the record to substantiate counsel's claim that Harold Parker misrepresented to Mr. Cole the extent of productivity of the ranches. Mr. Harold Parker took Mr. Cole over both of the entire ranches and he saw for himself just exactly how much land was under cultivation and what crops it had produced, as it was then about harvest time (R. 55).

That the ranches were and had been for many years productive is established by the uncontradicted testimony of Mr. Parker. Mr. Parker testified that he was married and had eight children, and that the family was supported from the ranch for the years, 1951, 1949, 1948, 1947, 1946, 1945 and 1944. Mr. Parker testified that his income tax for the year 1951, the year previous to the sale to Mr. Cole, showed a net taxable income derived from the Robinson ranch of \$1,200.00 Mr. Parker had ten exemptions of \$600.00 each, making the total profit derived from the Robinson ranch alone of \$7,200.00 after the interest payments, taxes, depreciation, and the usual farm deductions had been made. Mr. Parker also testified that his income tax return for the year 1950 showed a taxable income of a little better than \$1,200.00, and that it was about the same for the year 1949 (R. 220 and 230).

No evidence was introduced as to the income of the Meecham ranch, but the uncontradicted evidence is that

the income of the Robinson ranch was in excess of \$7,200.00 and with some variation it had been substantially the same. The evidence does not sustain counsel's contention that the ranches were marginal ground and unproductive. Mr. Parker moved onto the Robinson ranch in the year 1937 (R. 193) and lived on the ranch from then until it was sold to Mr. Cole in 1952, with the exception of three years when he leased the ranch, and at all times made payments on the mortgage and supported his family from the ranch (R. 194-195).

Counsel, in support of Point I, argues that various courts have agreed that there are subtle ways of being deceitful; that the courts have ruled time and time again that half-truths are just as dishonest as bold lies, and cites the case of *Melnoe et al. vs. Dixon et al.*, 225 P. 2d 273.

Even if we concede, which we do not, that the case cited by counsel stated a true rule of law applicable to this case, it is clearly distinguishable. In the case cited by counsel, the owner-builder had intentionally and knowingly failed to comply with the building requirements and had obtained no permits for the building, and they could not be obtained because the building was not constructed according to the legal requirements. All of these facts were positively known to the seller-builder, and knowing of his own knowledge that the building requirements had not been complied with and that building permits had not been taken and could not be obtained, and knowing that the house would eventually have to be torn down. The court disposed of this case by adopting the language used in the case of

*Mary Pickford Company vs. Bagley Bros., Inc.*, 86 P. 2d 102:

“If the seller of a security impliedly represents that the law had been complied with and that a permit for such sale had been issued, it is to naturally follow that if the builder-owner of a house sells such house he impliedly represents that the law has been complied with.”

Counsel also cites the case of *Dyke vs. Zaiser*, 182 P. 2d 353:

“The present tendency is to class concealment as actual fraud in those cases where the seller knows of facts which materially affect the desirability of the property which he knows are unknown to the buyers.”

and on Page 275 it says:

“It is a general rule that a vendor not in a confidential relation to the buyer is not under a duty to make full disclosure concerning the object which he would sell. However, it is a universally recognized exception that if he undertakes to do so he is bound not only to tell the truth but he is equally obligated not to suppress or conceal facts within his knowledge which materially qualify those stated. If he speaks at all he must make a complete and fair disclosure.”

In all of the cases cited by counsel there was a concealment of a material fact. Now, the only concealment of fact alleged by counsel is what counsel calls the fatal defect of a hidden fault. There is no evidence in the record to prove that this so-called hidden fault was in any manner prejudicial to the defendant. Before going to the source of the water supply Mr. Cole saw for himself just how much water was reaching the ranch (R. 55). They then went to the source of Hendries

Creek and he saw exactly how much water there was at the source, and he saw for himself that the major portion of the water was being lost by percolation. There was then a discussion as to how the water could be conserved (R. 144, 145), and everyone understood that the major portion of the water was being lost by percolation and that in order to conserve the water it was necessary to cement a ditch from the source of the supply to the ranch. Whether the loss was by percolation into the gravel or was due to a hidden fault or an alluvial fill, this fact was well understood; that the water was being lost and the development program that was necessary to conserve the water. The plaintiff knew at the time the contract was signed that the major portion of the water was being lost by percolation, either by passing over an alluvial fill, as it was designated by the defendant, or by a hidden fault, as it was described by Mr. Peterson. So that even though there was a hidden fault and the defendant failed to reveal it to the plaintiff, the plaintiff was not misled in any manner, for he knew that in fact the water was being lost by percolation en route to the ranch.

## POINT II.

THAT THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE WAIVED  
ANY RIGHTS TO RESCIND THE CONTRACT  
THEY MIGHT HAVE HAD BY THEIR ACTS  
AND CONDUCT.

Even assuming that Mr. Parker concealed and failed to mention to Mr. Cole the alleged hidden fault and did in fact mislead him about the water supply, the plaintiffs

under the facts as they appear in this record are not entitled to have the contract rescinded. The rule is stated in 17 C. J. S. 914:

"In accordance with the general rule stated in Section 431 above, a party desiring to rescind for fraud or false representation *must do so promptly and within a reasonable time*, and the right is lost by the failure to act in such a time on discovery or after it might have been discovered by the use of due diligence."

In *Fletcher vs. Wireman*, 152 Ky. 565, the court says:

"The party who claims to have been defrauded in the execution of a contract *must assert this defense within a reasonable time* after a suit has been brought against him to enforce the contract, or within a reasonable time after the fraud was discovered, or else he shall be deemed to have waived his right to rely on the alleged fraud."

The same rule is expressed in *Century Life Insurance Company vs. Taylor*, 176 Southwestern 373, wherein the court says:

"Where one sues in equity to obtain rescission of a contract because his claim to the relief sought upon the grounds of fraud induced the execution of the contract, *he must act promptly in making his election of remedies*, for if he fails to act promptly upon discovery of the fraud he loses his right to rescission in equity."

The rule has been settled in this jurisdiction that the buyer, if he is to rescind the contract, must do so within a reasonable time after the discovery of the alleged fraud. In the

case of *Fraily vs. McGarry*, 211 P. 2d 840 (Utah 1949), this court says:

“After reviewing the record of events as they transpired, we find it unnecessary to determine whether the defendant, by fraud, induced the plaintiff to enter into the contract. The facts present in the instant case preclude plaintiff from rescinding the contract because of misrepresentation or fraud. It is well settled by decisions from this court that all persons claiming the right to rescind must, after the discovery of the fraud, announce his purpose and adhere to it (*Taylor vs. Moore*, 87 Utah 493, 51 P. 2d 222). We have also held that the purchaser must evidence his intention to rescind by some unequivocal act, either by notice or by some act amounting to a notice of intention to rescind (*McKellar Real Estate and Investment Co. vs. Paxton*, 61 Utah 97, 218 P. 128).

*“Moreover, a defrauded party after learning the truth will not be permitted to go on deriving the benefits from the transaction and later elect to rescind (LeVine vs. Whitehouse, 37 Utah 160, 109 P. 2).*

“The fraud alleged by plaintiff as grounds for rescission consist of alleged statement made by the defendant that there was ample water available to irrigate the 960 acres of farm land, and that it was a mere formality to secure the right to drill wells in order to obtain the water. The falsity of such statements, if made, was made known to the defendant many months before he decided to rescind the contract. He became aware of the fact that there was a supposed shortage of water and that it would not be a mere formality to receive permission to drill wells when he received his first letter from the state engineer on March 2, 1946. Yet he did not notify

defendant of his intention to rescind until some ten months later. Black in his work in rescission and cancellation, Section 536, states the rule as follows:

“ \* \* \* It must be remembered that a contract induced by fraud, false representation, mistake, etc., is not void, but merely voidable, and it is entirely within the right of the injured party to affirm it or treat it as valid and subsisting. In this respect he has a choice or election, and he should not be required to make his decision instantly. The true doctrine is that if discovering the facts justified rescission the party is entitled to a reasonable time in which to decide upon the course he will take, but this does not mean that he will be indulged in a vacillating or hesitating course of conduct, *but that he must act with such a measure of promptness as fairly can be called reasonable with reference to all the circumstances of the particular case.* Particularly he must, if possible, avoid such delay as will make the ensuing rescission injurious to the other party. He must use reasonable diligence in ascertaining the facts which may entitle him to a rescission *and must act as soon thereafter the discovery of them so that the opposite party will not be unnecessarily prejudiced.* The rule is that he who would rescind the contract must offer to do so promptly upon discovery of the facts that will justify a rescission and while he is able of himself or by the judgment of the court to place the opposing parties substantially in status quo.’ ”

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